CIRCUIT COURT FOR HAMILTON COUNTY
State of Tennessee

ToDD RUSSELL,

Plaintiff,
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JURY DEMAND

CORECIVIC OF TENNESSEE, LLC
(formerly known as CCA of
Tennessee, LLC),

CoRreCIvIC, INC.,
(formerly known as Corrections
Corporation of American Inc.),

CORRECT CARE SOLUTIONS, LLC,
HAMILTON COUNTY GOVERNMENT,

UNKNOWN NUMBER OF JANE OR

JOHN DOEsS,

(individually and as unknown male and
female agents, staff, guards, and/or
medical doctors or nurses performing
duties and working at location known
herein as “Silverdale™),

§
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Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Introduction:

1. This is an action for money damages brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C.
§§1983, and 1988 to redress the deprivation of rights secured to the Plaintiff by the
United States Constitution, and redress of violations of the laws of the State of Tennessee
by the Defendants.

Jurisdiction and Venue:




2. This is an action to redress the deprivation of rights secured to the Plaintiff
by the Eight, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution enforceable
through 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Additionally, this Court has concurrent original jurisdiction as

set forth in the authority stated in Charles Dowd Box Co. v. Courtney, 368 U.S. 502, 507-

08 (1962); Haywood v. Drown, 556 U.S. 729 (2009); Watson v. Cleveland Chair Co.,

789 S.W.2d 538, 542 (Tenn. 1989); and Poling v. Goins,

3. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to TENN. CODE ANN. § 20-4-102.
All acts complained of occurred within Hamilton County.

The Parties:

CoreCivic of Tennessee, LLC,
and CoreCivic, Inc.

4, At all times relevant to this cause of action, Defendant CoreCivic of
Tennessee, LLC (formerly known as CCA of Tennessee, LLC), and CoreCivic, Inc.
(formerly known as Corrections Corporation of America, Inc.), are business entities that
own and operate a facility known as “CCA Silverdale Detention Center” (“Silverdale™)
located in Hamilton, County.

5. Defendant CoreCivic of Tennessee, LLC and CoreCivic, Inc. are listed
with the Tennessee Secretary of State as having one address (10 Burton Hills Blvd.,
Nashville, TN 37215, and both are listed as sharing the same registered agent for service
of process (CT Corp System, 300 Montvue Rd., Knoxville, TN 37919).!

6. At all times relevant to this cause of action, CCA is an agent of the
Hamilton County Government (“County”). CCA is a state actor, contracted by the

County to house inmates sentenced pursuant to Tennessee state laws for term of

" Plaintiff will refer to these defendants jointly from herein out as “CCA.”
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incarceration not to exceed eleven months and twenty-nine days; to house pre-trial
detainees for the municipal and county governments within Hamilton County; and to
house detainees for the Government of the United States.

7. CCA specializes in the construction, design and Mmanagement of prisons,
Jails, and detention facilities and the housing and transportation of inmates for municipal,
county, and state governments.

8. At all times relevant to this cause of action, CCA operated Silverdale (a
public detention facility) with the full authority and consent of the County and the State
of Tennessee pursuant to TENN. CODE ANN. § 41-24-101, €t seq., and/or TENN. CODE
ANN. § 41-8-101, et seq. and as a result acted under the color of state law.

9. At all times relevant to this cause of action, CCA, with oversi ght by the
County, is responsible for the creation and maintenance of Silverdale which, as stated
herein, operates under the laws of the State of Tennessee and regulated by the State of
Tennessee, specifically and pursuant to the Tennessee Private Prison Contracting Act of
1986 and Title 41 of the Tennessee Code Annotated with the following non-delegable
duties:

a. The training and certification of its employees;

b. To render medical aid to inmates injured while housed in
Silverdale and to ensure that the medical care was not delayed or not
withheld thus causing needless suffering;

C. To ensure inmates with injuries receive proper medical treatment
regardless whether or not they are serving an active sentence or pre-trial

detention;



d. To ensure that employees of CCA or any of its contractors posted
at the workhouse are properly trained to render medical aid to inmates
injured while housed in Silverdale and to prevent the needless pain and
suffering to injured inmates;

€. To ensure the conditions of confinement and health and safety of

persons incarcerated at Silverdale are protected and in compliance with the

United States Constitution, the Tennessee Constitution, and the laws of the

United States and the State of Tennessee.

10. At all times relevant to this cause of action, CCA was a state actor
p‘erforming governmental duties that are exclusive to the County, and thus had a duty
under Tennessee law to ensure persons held in Silverdale are not treated with undue
rigor.

11.  While in the performance ofits duties, CCA used servants, employees,
agents or contractors who performed services related to the housing, care, feeding,
supervision, discipline, and movement of persons (including Plaintiff) within its custody.

12. These CCA servants, employees, agents or contractors performed their
functions, including professional medical services, under the color of state law and within
the scope of their employment, agency, apparent authority or contract with CCA.

13. CCA is liable for its own conduct and for the acts and omissions of their
servants, employees, agents or contractors by virtue of the fact that these persons acted
within conformity with the policies, practices, and customs of CCA.

14. CCA is liable for its own conduct and for the acts and omissions of their

servants, employees, agents or contractors by virtue of the fact that these persons acted
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pursuant to the doctrines employment, agency, apparent agency, implied agency,
employer/employee relations, joint and several liability, respondent superior, vicarious
liability, and as a result of CCA’s non-delegable duty to ensure the health and safety of
all persons held in custody at Silverdale.

Hamilton County Government:

15 At all times relevant to this cause of action, County is a political sub-

division of the State of Tennessee organized and existing under the laws of the State of

Tennessee.

I6. County, through its commissioners, has charge to supervise and contro]
Silverdale.

17. County had a duty to render timely and adequate medical aid to Inmates

injured while housed in Silverdale and to ensure that the medical care was not delayed or
not withheld thus causing needless suffering; to ensure inmates with injuries receive
proper medical treatment regardless whether or not they are serving an active sentence or
pre-trial detention; to ensure that employees of CCA posted at the workhouse are
properly trained to render medical aid to inmates injured while housed in the workhouse;
and to regulate and control Silverdale in its exercise of the County’s business.

18. The County has a duty under Tennessee law to ensure persons held in
Silverdale are not treated with undue rigor.

19. At all times relevant to this cause of action, County was responsible for

the care, custody, health, well-being, and control of the Plaintiff while he was held at

Silverdale.




20. County is liable for its own conduct and for the acts and omissions of their
servants, employees, agents or contractors by virtue of the fact that these persons acted
within conformity with the policies, practices, and customs of County.

21. County is liable for its own conduct and for the acts and omissions of their
servants, employees, agents or contractors by virtue of the fact that these persons acted
pursuant to the doctrines employment, agency, apparent agency, implied agency,
employer/employee relations, joint and several liability, respondent superior, vicarious
liability.

22.  Plaintiff further brings this action against the County based pursuant to
TENN. CODE ANN. § 8-8-302 in that CCA and its individual actors operated within the
color of law bestowed upon them by virtue of the County.

Correct Care Solutions, LLC:

23. Correct Care Solutions, LLC (“CCS”) is a business entity formed in the
State of Kansas, but operating in Hamilton County, Tennessee.

24, CCS is a healthcare company based in Nashville, TN, and listed with the
Tennessee Secretary of State as having its principle place of business iocated at 1283
Murfreesboro Pike, Suite 500, Nashville, TN 37217.

25. The Tennessee Secretary of State shows CCS’s registered agent for
service of process is Corporate Creations Network, Inc., 205 Poweil Place, Brentwood,
TN 37027.

26.  CCS provides healthcare services to prisons and detention centers
throughout the USA, and to CCA and the County. These services are exclusive

governmental functions, and thus CCS operated under the color of state law.
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27.

CCS hires, trains, manages, and employs nurses and/or doctors to provide

medical care to persons held in custody at Silverdale.

28.

29.

30.

31.

Plaintiff believes that CCS employed some of the Doe defendants.

CCS has similar duties and obligations as CCA and the County.

CCS had these constitutional duties to Plaintiff:

a. To render medical aid to Plaintiff injured while housed in
Silverdale, to not withhold or delay medical care so as to cause the
Plaintiff unnecessary pain and suffering;

b. To ensure inmates with injuries receive proper medical treatment
regardless whether or not they are serving an active sentence or pre-trial
detention;

c. To ensure that employees of CCS posted at the workhouse are
properly trained to render medical aid to inmates injured while housed in
the workhouse; and

d. To properly carry out medical care for inmates held at Silverdale in
CCS’s exercise of the County’s business.

CCS is liable for its own conduct and for the acts and omissions of their

servants, employees, agents or contractors by virtue of the fact that these persons acted

within conformity with the policies, practices, and customs of CCS.

32.

CCS is liable for its own conduct and for the acts and omissions of their

servants, employees, agents or contractors by virtue of the fact that these persons acted

pursuant to the doctrines employment, agency, apparent agency, implied agency,




employer/employee relations, Joint and several liability, respondent superior, vicarious
liability.

33, CCS contracted with CCA to provide medical care to inmates at Silverdale
and thus had non-delegable duties constitutional duties to ensure that Plaintiff recejved

timely and adequate medical care to prevent Plaintiff from undue and needless sufferin g

Doe Defendants:

34, Plaintiff avers that any individual persons not fully identified herein
performed their functions as agents operating under color of state law and performing
their duties pursuant to the authority bestowed upon them by their employment.
Factual Basis of Complaint:

35. OnJanuary 23, 2018, Plaintiff arrived at Silverdale, and was subsequently
held on a probation violation and also on new criminal charges.

36.  Upon arrival at Silverdale, one of the Doe defendants acting as a
correctional officer for CCA placed Plaintiff into a holding area that contained over 25
other inmates.

37. Plaintiff and another inmate, Cecil Skiles, Jr. (“Skiles™), got into an
argument that escalated into a violent confrontation.

38.  Skiles severely injured Plaintiff. These injuries included a severe fracture
of the Plaintiff’s jaw with displacement, and the fracture extended into the Plaintiff’s
alveolar ridge. Plaintiff also suffered numerous missing teeth and nerve damage.

39.  The visual results of the Plaintiffs injuries were immediate and apparent

to any casual observer.

40. No staff member of CCA or CCS intervened in the assault.
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41.  After the assault, Plaintiff asked repeatedly of CCA and CCS staff for
medical care. These persons are the individual Doe Defendants.

42. No CCA or CCS staff assisted Plaintiff, Rather, each and every Doe
Defendant Plaintiff called out to for help affirmatively refused.

43.  Plaintiff remained in the same holding area until January 24, 2018, where,
after nearly 24 hours of suffering excruciating pain and after repeated requests for
assistance from the Doe Defendants, Plaintiff had a chance encounter with CCA
employee Jason Clark (“Clark”) and County employee Joe Fowler (“F owler”).

44.  Clark asked Plaintiff what was wrong, and Plaintiff informed Clark of the
assault and the injuries.

45. Upon speaking and observing Plaintiff, it is Plaintiffs belief that Clark
called for an ambulance to take Plaintiff to Erlanger’s Emergency Room (“Erlanger”).

46.  Plaintiff avers that upon Clark’s actions, EMS arrived within about 15
minutes and immediately transported Plaintiff to Erlanger.

47.  After an x-ray, Erlanger medical staff notified a CCA employee who acted
as a guard over Plaintiff that Plaintiff required immediate surgery. This CCA employee is
one of the Doe Defendants and is further identified as a female.

48.  The same CCA employee notified Erlanger medical staff that Plaintiff had
to go back to Silverdale to see a CCS and/or CCA medical provider to make any

decisions as to Plaintiff’s medical care.

49, However, the same CCA employee made comments within hearing of
Plaintiff that she (the CCA employee) was nearing the end of her shift, and if Plaintiff

was admitted for the needed surgery she would have to stay over the end of her shift.
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50.  The same CCA employee then transported Plaintiff to Silverdale
whereupon Plaintiff was placed into a non-medical cell where CCS staff gave to Plaintiff
only Motrin. Thereafter, CCA staff, or a combination of the CCS and CCA staff, gave
Plaintiff only “boost” drink as sustenance, since Plaintiff could not chew any solid food.

51.  Plaintiff received no follow-up medical or palliative care while at
Silverdale despite his repeated attempts for help from CCA and CCS staff as they
happened by.

52.  Plaintiff did not see any medical care provider until on or about J anuary
29, 2018 at Erlanger and on the day of his surgery, February 1, 2018.

53. Starting in 2017, Hamilton County Criminal Court Judge Tom Greenholtz
took action to address numerous incidents involving claims by defendants in his Court
that CCA and CCS were not receiving medical care.

54.  Judge Greenholtz’s actions included issuing subpoenas to Silverdale

officials to appear in his Court to explain why five non-violent inmates were making the

claim of no medical care.

55. One such explanation involved the claims of inmate Jared Hodges who,

also suffering from cancer was denied treatment for a broken bone while serving an

active sentence.

56.  Judge Greenholtz arranged for a hearing in his Court on August 30, 2017
and subpoenaed to testify Veronica Winters (identified in press releases as a “medical

administrator at Silverdale”). The following exchange is reported in the press to have

occurred:
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Judge Greenholtz: So no one had any follow-up with respect to this man’s

bone cancer?

Winters: No sir.

Judge Greenholtz: And is that based simply upon the initial note that he refused

treatment?

Winters: Yes sir.

57.  After the dialogue with Winters, Judge Greenholtz released Hodges on
probation.

58. A few days later, Judge Greenholtz released Lola Matthews based upon a
similar lack of medical care.

59.  CCA, CCS, and County also failed to properly prevent the death and
needless suffering of Madison Deal as set forth in the Complaint on record in this Court
in docket number 17¢590. Like the Plaintiff in this Complaint, Madison began to show
obvious physical distress after a fight. Unlike the Plaintiff in this Complaint, Madison
died.

60. In the Deal matter, the defendants named therein, which included CCA,
CCS, and the County (“Deal defendants™), displayed deliberate indifference to Madison
by failing to take steps to give her proper and immediate medical care despite the Deal
defendants’ full knowledge of Madison’s serious and obvious medical needs.

61.  CCA, CCS, and the County had constructive and actual knowledge of the
lack of medical care inmates received at Silverdale after the intervention of Judge
Greenholtz and the initiation of the Deal matter. However, despite this knowledge, these

same defendants continued their deliberate indifference towards the medical needs of
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inmates, which resulted in the same pattern of misconduct by the Doe Defendants seen
with the Plaintiff.

Count One:

Violation of Civil Rights Under

Color of Law 42 U.S.C. §1983 —

Deprivation of Due Process by
Failure to Prevent Harm

62. Pursuant to Rule 10(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the
Plaintiff reasserts and incorporates all prior averments.

63.  Atall times relevant, CCA, CCS, the County and their employees,
contractors, and agents performed a traditional government function by operating a

correctional facility.

64.  These same defendants were on notice of the Plaintiff’s severe injuries.
65.  CCA, CCS, and the County were on notice of the deficient care they were
giving to inmates in general and the Plaintiff yet took no steps to correct these

deficiencies.

66. As aresult, CCA, CCS, and the County created and maintained a zone of
danger where an inmate can receive harm in the form of lack of medical care.

67.  Plaintiff avers this lack of treatment was the results of improper staffing or
lack of training of the Doe Defendants, which in turn resulted in the outri ght dismissal of

Plaintiff’s efforts for help as set forth herein.

68. The Doe Defendants described herein acted under color of law and their
negligent and intentional acts deprived the Plaintiff his rights secured to him under the

United States Constitution to be free from Cruel and unusual punishment in violation of
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the Eight Amendment without due process of law and deprivation of medical care
without Due Process of law in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment.

69. CCA, CCS, and the County, had a duty of care to the Plaintiff to ensure
that the Doe Defendants were properly trained in the identification of inmates with
injuries, and when to render aid to an inmate. This failure constitutes deliberate
indifference.

70.  The actions and omissions of the Doe Defendants were done with actual
malice toward the Plaintiff and with willful and wanton indifference to and with
deliberate disregard for the constitutional rights and statutory civil rights of the Plaintiff.
Thus the Plaintiff is entitled attorney fees pursuant to 42. U.S.C. §1988.

71. The omissions of CCA, CCS, and the County constitute deliberate
indifference toward the Plaintiff and with willful and wanton indifference to and with
deliberate disregard for the constitutional rights and statutory civil rights of the Plaintiff
Thus the Plaintiff is entitled to actual damages, and attorney fees pursuant to 42. U.S.C.
§1988.

Count Two:
Violation of Civil Rights Under

Color of Law 42 U.S.C. §1983 -
Withholding Medical Care

72.  Pursuant to Rule 10(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the

Plaintiff reasserts and incorporates all prior averments.

73.  The Defendants had a duty of care to Plaintiff by reason of the Plaintiff’s
deprivation of his liberty, and thus inability to care for himself,
74. The Defendants’ failure to maintain Silverdale and to properly operate

Silverdale, and to properly train and supervise the Doe Defendants show a lack of
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training, supervision, or adequate policy to address medical emergencies such as
described here and monitor and properly care for medically fragile persons such as the
Plaintiff and thus constitutes deliberate indifference of the CCA, CCS, the County and
the individual defendants.

75. There was no need to simply whisk Plaintiff away from Erlanger in the
manner described herein after notice to the Doe Defendant guard. Erlanger was in the
best position to determine the necessity of immediate medical care for the Plaintiff. To
state that any further care was to be determined by anyone at Silverdale makes no sense
in the face of the severity of the Plaintiff’s injuries.

76.  No reasonable correctional officer or jail supervisor would have behaved
in the manner described herein.

77.  No reasonable governmental actor would have allowed any of its agents to
make such a decision.

78.  The Doe Defendants acted under color of law and their negligence and
intentional acts along with the deliberate indifference of CCA, CCS, and the County
deprived Plaintiff of rights secured to him under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments
to United States Constitution to be free from the Infliction of Cruel and Unusual
Treatment and to not be deprived of medical care without Due Process of Law.

79.  The actions and omissions of the Doe Defendants were done with actual
malice toward the Plaintiff and with willful and wanton indifference to and with
deliberate disregard for the constitutional rights and statutory civil rights of the Plaintiff,

Thus the Plaintiff is entitled attorney fees pursuant to 42. U.S.C. §1988.
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80. The omissions of CCA, CCS, and the County constitute deliberate
indifference toward the Plaintiff and with willful and wanton indifference to and with
deliberate disregard for the constitutional rights and statutory civil rights of the Plaintiff
Thus the Plaintiff is entitled to actual damages, and attorney fees pursuant to 42. U.S.C.
§1988.

Count Three:
Negligence

81.  Based upon the Plaintiff’s belief, the individual Doe Defendants were
appointed and employed by CCA, CCS, or the County to perform duties as reserved
solely to governmental officers and agent and at all times relevant to this matter acted

within the color of their office.

82.  The individual Doe Defendants and CCA, CCS, and the County had a duty
to not treat Plaintiff with undue rigor and to not i gnore Plaintiff’s obvious and painful
medical condition. This failure was the direct and proximate cause of the Plaintiff’s

unnecessary pain and suffering, and humiliation.

83. Plaintiff sues the individual Doe Defendants in their individual and official
capacities and CCA, CCS, and the County pursuant to TENN. CODE ANN. § 8-8-302.

Count Four:
Negligent Training

84.  CCA, CCS, and the County had a duty to ensure the individual Doe

Defendants were properly trained in when to act when an inmate in their care and custody

is severely injured.
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85.  The lack of training constitutes deliberate indifference of CCA, CCS, and
the County and this lack of proper training was the direct and proximate cause of the
Plaintiff’s unnecessary pain and suffering, and humiliation,

56.  Plaintiff sues the individual Defendants in their individual and official
capacities and the County pursuant to TENN. CODE ANN. § 8-8-302.

"WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff demands Judgment against the defendants and
requests the following relief:

A. That the Court award compensatory and punitive damages in the amount
of FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS;

B. That the Court award costs, and discretionary costs;

C. Any other relief the Court may deem fit and proper;

D. Any other relief the Court may deem fit and proper pursuant to 42 U.S.C.

§1988, and

E. Allow a jury trial on all issues triable by jury.

Respectfully submi

&KﬁslN BEN FLQ
TENN. BPR #
GA.ST BAR #200745
Counsel for Plaintiff
4110-A Brainerd Road
Chattanooga, TN 37411
423 /267-1575 fax 267-2703

robinflores@epbfi.com
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